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 Plaintiff Alfred Izquierdo (“Izquierdo”) is a City of Wilmington police 

officer.  While on duty, he was involved in an altercation at a nightclub.  He was 

investigated for improper use of force and accused of dishonesty in an effort to 

cover up his conduct.  Disciplinary proceedings stemming from this investigation 

resulted in a lengthy suspension and a cloud over his career.  He brought this 

action to remedy the adverse consequences resulting from what he perceived to be 

shortcomings in the investigative and disciplinary processes. 

 Before the Court are cross-motions for summary judgment filed by 

Izquierdo and by Defendants James Sills, Jr. (“Sills”), Mary Dees (“Dees”), 

Samuel D. Pratcher (“Pratcher”), Michael Boykin (“Boykin”), Gilbert Howell 

(“Howell”), Rita Crowley (“Crowley”), John Monaghan (“Monaghan”), Keith 

Ashe (“Ashe”), Henry Alfree (“Alfree”), Corey Staats (“Staats”), William J. 

Rhodunda, Jr. (“Rhodunda”), Carolyn R. Schlecker (“Schlecker”) (collectively, 

the “Individual Defendants”), and The Municipality of the City of Wilmington, 

Delaware (the “City,” together with the Individual Defendants, the 

“Defendants”).1  The amended complaint contains numerous counts of breach of 

                                              
1 At the time of the events leading to this litigation, Sills was the Mayor of the City 
and Dees was the City’s personnel director.  Schlecker was the City Solicitor and 
Rhodunda was an Assistant City Solicitor.  Pratcher served as Chief of Police.  
Boykin was an Inspector in the City of Wilmington Police Department and 
commanding officer of the Office of Professional Standards.  Howell, Crowley, 
Ashe, and Monaghan all were Captains in the Wilmington Police Department.  
Howell commanded the Office of Professional Standards unit involved in this 
case.  Staats was a Sergeant with the Wilmington Police Department and led the 
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contract for violation of a Collective Bargaining Agreement (the “CBA”)2 entered 

into by the City and the Fraternal Order of Police Lodge #1 (the “FOP”); state law 

tort claims including misrepresentation, civil conspiracy, and violation of the Law 

Enforcement Officers’ Bill of Rights (the “LEOBOR”);3 and state constitutional 

claims.4  Izquierdo has moved for partial summary judgment on Counts I-VIII and 

Count XXIV of the amended complaint.  Defendants have moved for summary 

judgment on all outstanding counts.   

 All of Izquierdo’s claims arise out of the investigation and subsequent 

disciplinary process carried out by the Wilmington Police Department (the 

“WPD”).  Izquierdo seeks review of a decision concerning application of the 

CBA’s procedural requirement that a hearing be afforded an officer no more than 

30 days after an investigation is complete (the “30-Day Rule”), as well as 

monetary and equitable relief because of the procedures utilized by those involved 

in carrying out the investigative and disciplinary processes.  For the reasons set 

forth below, Izquierdo’s motion for summary judgment is denied in its entirety 

                                                                                                                                       
investigation at issue in this case.  Alfree, a Master Sergeant in the Wilmington 
Police Department, also worked on the investigation.   
2 The CBA is submitted to the Court at pages A359 through A390 of the Appendix 
to the Brief in Support of Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment.  
References to this appendix throughout this Memorandum Opinion will appear as 
“DX-.”  References to the Appendix to Plaintiff’s Opening Brief in Support of 
Motion for Partial Summary Judgment will appear as “PX-.” 
3 11 Del. C. § 9200 et seq. 
4 The amended complaint initially contained federal civil rights claims as well.  As 
discussed below, the United States District Court for the District of Delaware 
dismissed those claims.  Izquierdo v. Sills, 68 F. Supp. 2d 392 (D. Del. 1999). 
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and Defendants’ motion for summary judgment is granted in part and denied in 

part. 

I.  STANDARD 

 Under Court of Chancery Rule 56, motions for summary judgment may be 

granted if “there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and . . . the moving 

party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”5  The moving party has the 

burden of demonstrating the absence of any genuine issue of fact.6  In considering 

the motion, the Court must view the facts in the manner most favorable to the 

nonmoving party and make all factual inferences in favor of the nonmoving party.7  

However, when the nonmoving party would have the burden of proof at trial, “he 

must show specific facts demonstrating a plausible ground for his claim, and 

cannot rely merely upon allegations in the pleadings or conclusory assertions in 

the affidavits.”8  If that burden of production is not met, summary judgment will 

be granted in favor of the moving party. 

 Importantly, in ruling on a motion for summary judgment, a judge should 

not weigh evidence and accept the argument perceived to be of greater weight.9  

On a motion for summary judgment, judges may only determine whether or not 

                                              
5 Ct. Ch. R. 56(c); see also 99-Year Lease Tenants of Lynn Lee Village v. Key Box 
“5” Operatives, Inc., 2003 WL 22332173, at *2 (Del. Ch. Oct. 10, 2003).   
6 Nash v. Connell, 99 A.2d 242, 243 (Del. Ch. 1953). 
7 Judah v. Del. Trust Co., 378 A.2d 624, 632 (Del. 1977). 
8 In re Tri-Star Pictures, Inc. Litig., 1992 WL 37304, at *4 (Del. Ch. Feb. 21, 
1992), aff’d in part, rev’d in part, 364 A.2d 319 (Del. 1993). 
9 Cont’l Oil Co. v. Pauley Petro., Inc., 251 A.2d 824, 826 (Del. 1969). 
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there is a genuine issue as to a material fact; they may not try that issue.10  This is 

especially true in the context of competing motions for summary judgment which 

“are not the procedural equivalent of a stipulation of decision on a paper record.”11 

II.  FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

A.  The Governing Law and Documents 

 The LEOBOR, applicable to most law-enforcement disciplinary 

proceedings throughout Delaware,12 provides certain rights to law-enforcement 

officers, including the sworn members of the WPD.13  Section 9203 of the 

LEOBOR states that “[i]f a law-enforcement officer is . . . (3) charged with a 

breach of discipline of any kind, which charge could lead to any form of 

disciplinary action . . . which may become part of the officer’s permanent 

personnel record, then that officer shall be entitled to a hearing.”14  The guaranteed 

hearing is to be conducted according to the LEOBOR “unless a contractual 

disciplinary grievance procedure executed by and between the agency and the 

bargaining unit of that officer is in effect, in which case the terms of that 

disciplinary grievance procedure shall take precedence and govern the conduct of 

the hearing.”15  Here, the agreed-upon contractual grievance procedures of the 

                                              
10 Banks v. Cristina Copper Mines, Inc., 99 A.2d 504, 506 (Del. Ch. 1953). 
11 Motorola, Inc. v. Amkor Tech., Inc., 2004 WL 1195458, at *4 (Del. May 27, 
2004). 
12 11 Del. C. § 9209. 
13 Id. § 9200(b). 
14 Id. § 9203. 
15 Id. (emphasis added). 
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CBA have been substituted for the procedures of the LEOBOR.  Specifically, the 

CBA takes precedence over the terms of Sections 9203, 9204, 9205, and 9207 of 

the LEOBOR.16 

 Article 11 of the CBA deals with work rules and regulations.  Section 11.1 

of the CBA is structured so that that when Article 11 is silent as to an issue, the 

WPD’s work rules and regulations, including WPD directives (the “Directive(s)”), 

shall apply.  If the CBA and Directives are silent, the LEOBOR applies.  Thus, a 

hierarchy of authorities governs disciplinary procedures:  The CBA is the primary 

authority.17  If the CBA is silent, the Directives control.  If both the CBA and 

Directives are silent, the LEOBOR default rules apply. 

                                              
16 CBA § 11.1.  The CBA left uncertain whether its terms preempt Section 9206 of 
the LEOBOR.  That section deals with evidence obtained in violation of an 
officer’s rights.  Specifically, it states 

No evidence may be obtained, received or admitted into evidence in 
any proceeding of any disciplinary action which violates any of the 
rights established by the United States Constitution or Delaware 
Constitution or by [the LEOBOR].  The tribunal may not enter any 
judgment or sustain any disciplinary action based on any evidence 
obtained in violation of the officer’s rights as contained in [the 
LEOBOR]. 

This Section of the LEOBOR is of no consequence to the pending motions.  To the 
extent it would be implicated by constitutional shortcomings of the investigative 
and disciplinary processes, any allegations of such shortcomings are dismissed on 
their merits in Part III.C of this Memorandum Opinion.  Moreover, Counts based 
on violations of the LEOBOR are dismissed on their merits in Part III.D.2 of this 
Memorandum Opinion.  Thus, there is no underlying violation upon which a claim 
under Section 9206 may be based. 
17 This is true only as to the sections of the LEOBOR that the CBA specifically 
preempts.  Thus, the CBA governs hearing requirements, scheduling, notice, 
procedure, and the written decisions and findings of fact of the hearing board.   
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 At the heart of this case is Izquierdo’s argument that there were violations 

of the 30-Day Rule and of Izquierdo’s discovery rights.  The 30-Day Rule is found 

in Directive 8.7(E).18  That Directive states, “In the event the accused is entitled to 

a hearing, a hearing shall be scheduled within a reasonable time from the alleged 

incident, but in no event more than thirty (30) days following the conclusion of the 

investigation, unless waived in writing by the charged officer.”19  The CBA, the 

Directives, and the LEOBOR, however, do not define “conclusion of 

investigation.” 

 Izquierdo’s right to a full and complete record of interviews held in 

connection with an investigation is in a section of the LEOBOR not preempted by 

the CBA:  Section 9200.  LEOBOR Section 9200(c)(7) mandates: 

A complete record, either written, taped or, if taped, transcribed as 
soon as practicable, shall be kept of all interviews held in connection 
with the administrative investigation upon notification that 
substantial evidence exists for seeking an administrative sanction of 
the law-enforcement officer.  A copy of the record shall be provided 
to the officer or the officer’s counsel at the officer’s expense upon 
request.20 

 
LEOBOR Section 9200(c)(10) and Directive 8.7(L) provide law-enforcement 

officers certain discovery rights with regard to exculpatory evidence contained in 

                                              
18 The CBA preempts the LEOBOR in dealing with hearing procedure.  The 
LEOBOR has a substantially similar 30-day rule at Section 9204. 
19 Directive 8.7(E), DX-A407 (emphasis added). 
20 11 Del. C. § 9200(c)(7). 
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the investigatory record,21 but LEOBOR Section 9200(c)(7) is the only section 

mandating a “complete record of interviews.” 

B.  Administrative Procedural History 

1.  Incident and Investigation 

Izquierdo and two other officers were involved in an altercation with three 

civilians at a Wilmington nightclub on January 28, 1996.  During the altercation, 

one or more of the officers used force on one or more of the civilians.  None of the 

civilians was arrested at that time. 

Immediately following the altercation, the civilians went to the WPD 

headquarters, where they attempted to file complaints against Izquierdo and the 

other officers.  While at the headquarters, one of the civilians, Dennis Givens 

                                              
21 Specifically, LEOBOR Section 9200(c)(10) provides: 

An officer who is charged with violating any departmental rules or 
regulations, or the officer’s representative, will be provided access to 
transcripts, records, written statements, written reports, analyses and 
video tapes pertinent to the case if they are exculpatory, intended to 
support any disciplinary action or are to be introduced in the 
departmental hearing on the charges involved.  Upon demand by the 
officer or counsel, they shall be produced within 48 hours of the 
written notification of the charges. 

Directive 8.7(L) reads: 
The accused officer does not have the right of discovery regarding 
reports and/or statements submitted by other members of the 
Department or civilians relative to the incident, unless such reports 
are exculpatory, or are introduced as evidence into the hearing, or 
otherwise supplied to the Complaint Hearing Board or Appeal 
Board, or in the event that the officer or civilian who prepared the 
report or statement testifies at the Complaint Hearing Board, or 
Appeal Board, about subjects covered in his report statement. 
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(“Givens”), was placed under arrest by Izquierdo, who charged him with 

terroristic threatening and menacing.  After the arrest, Givens was transported to 

the Wilmington Hospital Emergency Room, where he refused medical treatment.  

Givens was then transported back to the police station by Izquierdo and another 

officer and remained there until his release the next morning. 

On January 31, 1996, Givens went to the WPD’s Office of Professional 

Standards (the “OPS”) to file the complaint he had tried to file on the night of 

January 28.  On February 6, 1996, Givens’s brother, Keith, who was another of the 

three civilians involved in the altercation, filed a complaint with OPS indicating 

that he, Givens, and the third involved civilian were unnecessarily beaten by three 

WPD officers. 

Staats, an officer in the OPS, led the investigation of the civilian 

complaints.  Izquierdo received a notification of complaint on February 19, 1996, 

and again on March 19, 1996.  On March 15, 1996, Staats interviewed both 

Givens and his brother Keith.22  Staats spoke to each of the brothers before turning 

on a tape recorder.  On March 18, 1996, both of the other officers involved in the 

altercation provided tape-recorded interviews to Staats.  They gave the interviews 

because, they said, previous information they had given was inaccurate.  Because 

of this change of testimony and the concern that one or more of the officers might 

                                                                                                                                       
Notably, Directive 8.7(L) begins with a preclusion of discovery, and follows with 
exceptions—allowing discovery solely for exculpatory evidence or evidence to be 
introduced at a hearing. 
22 Staats interviewed the third civilian complainant on March 20, 1996. 
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perjure themselves, Schlecker determined the misdemeanor charges against 

Givens should be dropped.  A nolle prosequi was entered in that case. 

On March 25, 1996, Staats interviewed Izquierdo in the presence of 

Rhodunda and Izquierdo’s then-attorney.23  That same day, Howell notified 

Izquierdo he was assigned to administrative duties effective immediately.  This 

assignment prohibited Izquierdo from carrying weapons, on or off duty, and from 

working any extra-duty or overtime assignments. 

The last of Staats’s investigative activity appears to have occurred on 

April 6, 1996.24  The date appearing on the cover of the investigative report is 

April 8, 1996.  A draft of this report was sent to transcription on April 10, 1996, 

and the final investigative report was completed on April 12, 1996.  Howell then 

signed off on the report and Staats prepared an “information packet” and charge 

papers against Izquierdo.  There is no date appearing on Howell’s signature page 

and there is dispute as to the date Howell signed the report.25  Izquierdo was 

served with these papers on April 17, 1996. 

                                              
23 Izquierdo’s current attorney assumed representation of Izquierdo after this 
interview. 
24 Staats’s investigative report is at DX-A169. 
25 The Complaint Hearing Board, in its summary of the facts, recounted that 
Howell stated “that April 12th was the date he signed the investigative report 
submitted by . . . Staats, as being acceptable.”  PX-A166.  Defendants’ briefs 
present this date as April 15, 1996.  See Br. in Supp. of Defs.’ Mot. for Summ. J., 
at 19 (“Howell presented an opening statement to the Appeal Board in which he 
asserted that the earliest date that the investigation could have concluded was 
April 15th, which is when he, as Staats’s commanding officer, signed off on the 
report.”); Answering Br. in Opp’n to Pl.’s Mot. for Partial Summ. J., at 18 (same).  
Defendants cite to a videotape for this assertion, which they have volunteered to 



 10

2.  The First Complaint Hearing Board 

On May 13, 1996, a hearing was held by the Complaint Hearing Board (the 

“CHB”).26  This board was comprised of Ashe, Crowley, and Monaghan.  

Izquierdo joined with the other officers who were facing disciplinary charges 

arising out of the same events in a motion to dismiss, which argued that the 

hearing was held too late, thus in violation of the 30-Day Rule, and that Staats had 

not complied with LEOBOR Section 9200(c)(7)’s complete report and disclosure 

requirements, which, Izquierdo alleges, affected his discovery rights under 

LEOBOR Section 9200(c)(10) and Directive 8.7(L).27  Specifically, the motion to 

dismiss argued that conclusion of investigation was on April 8, 1996.  In regard to 

the discovery violations, the motion pointed to the fact that before turning on a 

tape recorder to conduct interviews, Staats “interviewed” Givens and his brother 

Keith.   

The CHB determined there was no LEOBOR discovery violation, but that 

there was a violation of the 30-Day Rule.  The CHB decided that the date of the 

conclusion of the investigation was on April 12, 1996.  The CHB, accordingly, 

dismissed the charges against Izquierdo and the other officers. 

                                                                                                                                       
provide to the Court.  This date, thus, presents a question of fact which cannot be 
resolved at the summary judgment stage.  
26 Thus, thirty days before May 13, 1996, was April 13, 1996. 
27 PX-161. 
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3.  The First Appeal Board 

Three days after the CHB’s decision, on May 16, 1996, Howell28 addressed 

an appeal board (the “AB”) consisting of Dees, Pratcher, and Master Sergeant 

                                              
28 Izquierdo suggests that Pratcher ordered the appeal.  The District Court has 
already found that Howell alone made the decision to appeal, Izquierdo, 68 F. 
Supp. 2d at 401 n.11, and that determination is binding on this Court. 
   The procedural posture in this case presents an interesting question of whether to 
consider determinations made in the District Court’s opinion binding as a matter 
of collateral estoppel or as a matter of law of the case.  As discussed later, 
Izquierdo’s case was removed to the federal court and subsequently remanded to 
this Court.   
   In discussing estoppel (albeit in the framework of partial remand by an appellate 
court to a trial court), the United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit has 
stated, “[w]hen the estoppel is operative in proceedings in the same case on 
remand, courts frequently speak in terms of the law of the mandate or the law of 
the case rather than collateral estoppel but the underlying principle is the same.”  
Cowgill v. Raymark Indus., Inc., 832 F.2d 798, 802 (3d. Cir. 1987).   
   There are some differences between the two doctrines.  Collateral estoppel “bars 
a party from relitigating a factual issue previously litigated.”  Ingram v. 1101 
Stone Assocs. LLC, 2004 WL 691770, at *8 (Del. Super. Mar. 18, 2004) (emphasis 
added).  Collateral estoppel applies to bar such relitigation if “(1) the issue 
previously decided is identical to the issue at bar; (2) the prior issue was finally 
adjudicated on the merits; (3) the party against whom the doctrine is invoked was 
a party or in privity with a party to the prior adjudication; and (4) the party against 
whom the doctrine is raised had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in a 
prior action.”  Id.  The law of the case doctrine applies as a constraint to 
reconsideration of legal issues.  The law of the case is established “when a specific 
legal principle is applied to an issue presented by facts which remain constant 
throughout the subsequent course of the same litigation.”  Kenton v. Kenton, 571 
A.2d 778, 784 (Del. 1990). 
   Further, while collateral estoppel is considered an absolute bar to relitigation of 
an issue, there are two exceptions to the law of the case doctrine:  when “the 
previous ruling was clearly in error or there has been an important change in 
circumstances,” or when “the equitable concern of preventing injustice” trumps 
the doctrine.  Hamilton v. State, 831 A.2d 881, 887 (Del. 2003). 
   In this case, nothing has been submitted which would lead the Court to invoke 
either of the two exceptions to the law of the case doctrine.  Further, the Court 
finds that as a general matter, the last three requirements of the collateral estoppel 
doctrine are met.  (Because the first requirement of collateral estoppel is fact 
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John Fogelgren.29  Rhohunda served as legal advisor to the AB, and Schlecker 

assisted the OPS in presenting the appeal.  The AB ruled that the 30-Day Rule 

period began to run when the officers were served, thus on April 17, 1996.30  

Having found no violation of the CBA, the AB remanded the case to the CHB. 

4.  Izquierdo’s Discovery Request 

In a letter dated May 31, 1996, Izquierdo’s counsel requested discovery.  

On June 17, 1996, Staats provided records pertaining to Givens’s refusal of 

treatment at the Wilmington Hospital Emergency Room.  Staats has testified that 

he did not have possession of these hospital records before the first CHB, but 

afterwards was able to obtain them from the records division and forward them to 

Izquierdo. 

5.  The Second Complaint Hearing Board 

The CHB, still comprised of Ashe, Crowley, and Monaghan, reconvened on 

June 19, 1996.  Izquierdo again filed and joined on various motions to dismiss, 

again arguing that the original CHB hearing was scheduled in violation of the 30-

Day Rule, and that Staats had failed to keep a complete record of interviews. 

                                                                                                                                       
specific, the Court will only rely on the District Court’s opinion when the matter it 
addresses is identical to a matter presently under consideration.)  As such, 
regardless of nomenclature, this Court considers the determinations of the federal 
court, as to those issues also before this Court, binding as a general matter of 
estoppel. 
29 Fogelgren, president of the FOP, has not been named as a defendant in this 
action. 
30 The AB considered, and did not accept, an argument that even if the conclusion 
of investigation were deemed to be April 12, the fact that May 12 was a Sunday 
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Izquierdo argued that the CHB was not bound to follow the determination of the 

AB.  Izquierdo also argued that the hospital records, given to him only two days 

before the second CHB hearing, were not delivered in a timely fashion and that he 

was not provided with certain other exculpatory evidence.  

The CHB found that the 30-Day Rule issue had been decided by the AB 

(and declined to revisit it) and that Staats’s records of the interview were 

complete.  After deliberating, the CHB, as to Izquierdo, found insufficient 

evidence to support charges of improper use of force and failure to provide 

medical treatment to a prisoner, but sufficient evidence to support charges of 

dishonesty, inaccurate reporting, and failure to report the use of force.  The CHB 

imposed a 10-day suspension for the failure to report use of force, a 10-day 

suspension for inaccurate reports, and dismissal for dishonesty. 

6.  The Second Appeal Board 

After repeated requests by Izquierdo’s counsel, a second AB hearing was 

scheduled for August 27, 1996.  Before the hearing, Izquierdo’s counsel sent a 

letter, dated August 16, 1996, to Boykin requesting that Boykin remove Pratcher 

and Dees from the AB “because of bias and prejudice against” Izquierdo.31  The 

basis for this was that both Pratcher and Dees had sat on the first AB, and thus had 

prior knowledge of the case.  Further, Izquierdo’s counsel argued that both 

                                                                                                                                       
would not have served to allow extension of the 30-day period through the next 
business day. 
31 DX-A340. 
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Pratcher and Dees were to be defendants in a writ of mandamus action that had not 

yet been filed.32  Boykin denied the request on August 26, 1996. 

The second AB hearing ended with a rejection of all of Izquierdo’s 

arguments except that his termination was an unjustly harsh punishment.  The AB 

modified Izquierdo’s sentence to a suspension without pay and credited him for 

time served since the second CHB hearing.  Izquierdo returned to work on 

September 3, 1996. 

C.  Judicial Procedural History 

 Izquierdo initially filed a complaint in this Court on February 10, 1997.  An 

amended complaint dated August 8, 1997, was subsequently filed.  The amended 

complaint brings claims against Pratcher, Boykin, Howell, Alfree, and Schlecker 

in both their official and individual capacities.  Claims brought against Sills, Dees, 

Rhodunda, Crowley, Ashe, Monaghan, and Staats33 are brought against them in 

their official capacity only.   

Defendants removed the case to the United States District Court for the 

District of Delaware.  That court granted summary judgment in favor of 

                                              
32 Izquierdo filed a petition for a writ of mandamus in Superior Court on 
August 23, 1996, seeking an order to compel the rescission of his termination, 
reinstatement to his former position, and back pay.  On September 9, 1996, 
Izquierdo informed the Superior Court that he intended to dismiss the petition. 
33 Although the amended complaint named Staats in both his official and 
individual capacities, the District Court approved a stipulation dismissing all 
claims against Staats in his individual capacity with prejudice on November 11, 
1998. 
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Defendants as to all of Izquierdo’s federal claims34 and remanded the remaining 

state claims to this Court.35  Izquierdo moved for partial summary judgment, and 

Defendants responded with a motion for summary judgment. 

III.  ANALYSIS 

A.  Breach of Contract Claims Against the Individuals Defendants 

 Counts I-VI, IX, XI, XIV, and XVII-XXVIII are premised on breach of 

contract.36  This section addresses those Counts to the extent they involve any of 

the Individual Defendants.  

Izquierdo asserts that the CBA has been breached.  The CBA is entitled, 

“Agreement between The City of Wilmington, a municipal corporation of the 

                                              
34 Counts XXIX-XXXIII of the amended complaint.  
35 Izquierdo, 68 F. Supp. 2d at 420. 
36 Count XIV is premised upon both breach of contract and tort claims.  To the 
extent it brings breach of contract claims against any of the Individual Defendants, 
it is addressed here. 
   There is disagreement as to whether Count II of the amended complaint is 
grounded in contract or tort.  See Br. in Supp. of Defs.’ Mot. for Summ. J., at 46-
47; Pl.’s Answering Br. Opposing Defs.’ Mot. for Summ. J., at 38-39; Reply Br. in 
Supp. of Defs.’ Mot. for Summ. J., at 2.  Count II is titled, “Misrepresentation.”  
The Count alleges: 

 32.  OPS through Defendants Staats, Alfree and Howell did 
maliciously and with reckless and willful wanton disregard subject 
Plaintiff to a Complaint Hearing Board in breach of the contract, by 
forwarding arguments of unwritten policy directly in contravention 
of the contract provisions, i.e. WPD DIR 8.7(E), regarding the 30-
Day Rule with the intent to influence the first Hearing Board to 
violate said contract provision. 
 33.  Defendants by their actions breached the contract. 

It seems clear that although the captioning of the Count is “Misrepresentation,” 
Izquierdo is attempting to set forth a breach of contract claim.  For the sake of 
thoroughness, I will address the issue when considering both breach of contract 
and tort claims.   
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State of Delaware, and Fraternal Order of Police Lodge #1.”  It is signed by Sills 

for the City, in his capacity as Mayor, and by three representatives of the FOP.  

None of the other Individual Defendants signed the CBA in any capacity.  As 

such, the parties to the CBA are the City and the FOP only.  This Court has 

recognized the “general principle of contract law that only a party to a contract 

may be sued for breach of that contract.”37 

Izquierdo argues, “[a]s agents of Defendant City, [the Individual 

Defendants] owe a duty to the Plaintiff to follow the parties’ agreement.  In 

essence, those Defendants are fiduciaries to an intended third party creditor 

beneficiary of the City of Wilmington and FOP contract.”38  Izquierdo cites no 

authority for this assertion, which is simply inaccurate.  Even after assuming 

Izquierdo is a creditor beneficiary of the CBA and recognizing that the Individual 

Defendants are agents of the City, Izquierdo’s argument runs headlong into the 

principle that agents are not liable to third parties for contracts of a disclosed 

principal.  While the agent may have liability to the principal, there is no 

                                              
37 Wallace v. Wood, 752 A.2d 1175, 1180 (Del. Ch. 1999); see also Traffas v. 
Bridge Capital Investors II, 1993 WL 339293, at *3 (D. Kan. Aug. 23, 1993) (“It 
would be a novel holding for the court to rule that a breach of contract action can 
be maintained against a person who is not a party to the contract being sued 
upon.”), cited in TruePosition, Inc. v. Allen Telecom, Inc., 2003 WL 151227, at *2 
(D. Del. Jan. 21, 2003). 
38 Pl.’s Answering Br. Opposing Defs.’ Mot. for Summ. J., at 40 (May 9, 2003). 
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contractual relationship between the agent and the third-party creditor 

beneficiary.39 

Because the Individual Defendants are not parties to the CBA and there is 

no basis for holding these nonparties liable for breach of the CBA, Defendants’ 

motion for summary judgment, with respect to the Individual Defendants, is 

granted as to those Counts listed above.  Izquierdo’s motion for summary 

judgment as to Counts I-VI and XXIV with respect to the Individual Defendants, 

is denied.40 

                                              
39 See generally ARTHUR LINTON CORBIN, CORBIN ON CONTRACTS § 779(E) 
(1951) (discussing beneficiaries of contracts between principals and agents).  
Corbin states, “It seems reasonably clear that, where B is the agent of A to 
perform, the contract [between A and B] should not be regarded as made for the 
benefit of C or as giving him an enforceable right.”  Id. 
40 These conclusions are, of course, limited, as to Counts II and XIV, to their 
allegations based in contract. 
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B.  Tort Claims41  

 Counts II, VII-VIII, X, and XII-XIV, are all, wholly or partially, or in the 

case of Count II, hypothetically, based in tort law.42  This section addresses these 

Counts with respect to both the Individual Defendants and the City. 

                                              
41 As the District Court remarked, “[t]he Amended Complaint, seemingly adopting 
a blunderbuss approach both as to legal theories and named defendants, has the 
additional vice of suffering from a lack of clarity.”  Izquierdo, 68 F. Supp. 2d at 
404.  True to this characterization, it is not clear which of the counts premised on 
tort theory seek monetary damages and which seek equitable relief.  To the extent 
those counts seek monetary damages, they are addressed in this section. 
   Counts VII, VIII, and XIII, based on civil conspiracy, would not separately 
confer any equitable relief.  Any equitable relief would be in the form of 
expunging of Izquierdo’s disciplinary record and restoration to a status as if there 
had been no discipline.  Thus, it would take the form of an order directed at the 
City, not the Individual Defendants named in these Counts.  (Sills and Pratcher, to 
whom such an order might have been directed because of their then-status a 
Mayor and Chief of Police, are not named in these Counts.)  Such an order would 
not be focused on the broad scope of liability envisaged by the finding of a civil 
conspiracy.  To the extent those Counts may be seeking equitable relief, then, 
Defendants’ motion for summary judgment is granted and Izquierdo’ motion for 
summary judgment is denied. 
   Count II, also (seemingly) based in tort, is better considered, to the extent it may 
be seeking equitable relief, in Part III.D.1.a, addressing breach of contract against 
the City.   
   Counts X and XII are premised on the same nucleus of facts as Counts IX and 
XI.  To the extent Counts X and XII seek equitable relief, they will be addressed 
with, and dismissed on their merits for the same reasons as, Counts X and XII in 
Part III.D.2. 
   Count XIV is supported by both contract and tort language.  To the extent it is 
based in tort and seeks equitable relief, it is also discussed and dismissed on its 
merits for the same reasons as those discussed in Part III.D.2. 
42 Counts X and XII are fully, and Count XIV is partially, based on a theory of 
violation of a statutory duty.  Both sides have submitted extensive briefing as to 
whether the LEOBOR is the source of an implied private right of action.  The 
Court does not reach this issue.  For purposes of these claims, the Court assumes 
that a private right of action exists under the LEOBOR.  See Knox v. City of 
Elsmere, 1995 WL 339096 (Del. Super. May 10, 1995) (denying a summary 
judgment motion because of the existence of material question of fact, but 
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 The Delaware Tort Claims Act (the “Tort Claims Act”) provides that “all 

governmental entities and their employees shall be immune from suit on any and 

all tort claims seeking recovery of damages.”43  Governmental entities are defined 

to include the City.44  Employees are defined as individuals “acting on behalf of a 

governmental entity in any official capacity,”45 and, the Individual Defendants fall 

within this definition.46 

 Section 4011(c) of the Tort Claims Act is an exception to employee 

immunity.47  It provides: 

                                                                                                                                       
suggesting that a private action would be implied under the LEOBOR); Gale v. 
Sapp, 1993 WL 54463 (Del. Super. Feb. 11, 1993) (resolving an issue based on 
the text of a bargaining agreement that, pursuant to 11 Del. C. § 9203 preempted 
the LEOBOR, without regarding whether a private right of action would exist 
under the LEOBOR).  Such right of action, if it exists, would be subject to the 
Delaware Tort Claims Act.  10 Del. C. § 4001 et. seq.  The Court thus rejects 
Izquierdo’s assumption that a private right of action, if one exists under the 
LEOBOR, would be a statutory exception to the Delaware Tort Claims Act.  See 
10 Del. C. § 4011(a) (“Except as otherwise expressly provided by statute, all 
governmental entities and their employees shall be immune from suit on any and 
all tort claims seeking recovery of damages.”) (emphasis added). 
43 10 Del. C. § 4011(a).  10 Del. C. § 4012 provides exceptions to this immunity, 
but none of those exceptions applies here. 
44 Id. § 4010(2).  
45 Id. § 4010(1).   
46 Although Izquierdo names Pratcher, Schlecker, Boykin, Howell, and Alfree in 
their individual capacities, the tort counts allege actions that were taken in official 
capacities.  Regardless, those defendants’ actions would have to meet the 
requirements of 10 Del. C. § 4011(c).  See Holman v. Walls, 1989 WL 66636, at 
*7 (D. Del. June 13, 1989) (“The only reasonable construction of [the Tort Claims 
Act] is to permit actions against an employee in his or her individual capacity if 
the requirements of § 4011(c) are met but to bar actions against an employee in his 
or her official capacity.”). 
47 This subsection only applies to employees of governmental entities; it does not 
apply to the entities themselves.  Smith v. Comm’rs of Dewey Beach, 685 F. Supp. 
433, 435 (D. Del. 1988). 
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(c)  An employee may be personally liable for acts or omissions 
causing property damage, bodily injury or death in instances in 
which the governmental entity is immune under this section, but 
only for those acts which are performed with wanton negligence or 
willful and malicious intent. 

 
 Izquierdo argues that this section applies to the Individual Defendants, thus 

lifting the shield of immunity.   He argues that the Individual Defendants acted 

with wanton negligence.  However, in order for an employee to be personally 

liable for the result of an action taken with wanton negligence, that action must 

cause property damage, bodily injury, or death.  Izquierdo argues that he has 

sustained property damage by being denied his role as a police officer and having 

to defend his property right to employment.  He also claims economic damages.48 

 “[I]n order to avoid defeating the broad grant of immunity set forth in 

Section 4011(a), the exception set forth in Section 4011(c) is to be narrowly 

construed.”49  In Dale v. Town of Elsmere, the Delaware Supreme Court applied 

this maxim to a suit brought by landowners against the Mayor of Elsmere.  The 

landowners alleged that the town had created a nuisance by providing a loading 

zone for a deli adjacent to their land and sought monetary compensation for lost 

enjoyment and value.  The Mayor argued that 10 Del. C. § 4011(c) required an 

allegation of physical property damage, not intangible property damage.  While 

not directly addressing this argument, the Supreme Court wrote, “economic harm 

                                              
48 Pl.’s Answering Br. Opposing Defs.’ Mot. for Summ. J., at 19. 
49 Wilcher v. City of Wilmington, 60 F. Supp. 2d 298, 306 (D. Del. 1999); see also 
Dale v. Town of Elsmere, 702 A.2d 1219, 1222 (Del. 1997) (“[E]xceptions to 
broad grants of immunity are to be construed narrowly.”). 
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alone does not constitute ‘property damage’ as that term is used in the Act.”50  

Further, in Carr v. Town of Dewey Beach, the United States District Court applied 

the Tort Claims Act.  In that case, the plaintiff claimed that he had lost profits 

because an allegedly retaliatory stop work letter issued by the municipality had 

delayed construction of a restaurant.51  The District Court wrote, “[Plaintiff] 

claims no physical damage to the property itself.  By its terms, therefore, Section 

4011(c)'s exception is inapplicable to [the individual defendant], and plaintiff's 

claim . . . will be dismissed.”52 

 Similarly, in the case at bar, Izquierdo seeks economic damages for loss of 

income and argues that he sustained property damage as the result of having been 

harmed in his role as a police officer.  In light of Dale and Carr, this is not the 

type of property damage anticipated by Section 4011(c).  Because the harm 

Izquierdo alleges is not within the scope of Section 4011(c), there is no need to 

reach whether the Individual Defendants’ actions were performed with wanton 

negligence or willful and malicious intent. 

 Pursuant to 10 Del. C. § 4011(a) and interpreting caselaw, and to the extent 

these Counts seek monetary damages and are based in tort, Defendants’ motion for 

summary judgment is granted as to Counts II, VII-VIII, X, and XII-XIV.  

                                              
50 Dale, 702 A.2d at 1223 (citing Carr v. Town of Dewey Beach, 730 F. Supp. 591, 
602 (D. Del 1990)). 
51 Carr v. Town of Dewey Beach, 730 F. Supp. 591, 594-97 (D. Del. 1990). 
52 Id. at 602. 
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Similarly, and to the same extent, Izquierdo’s motion for summary judgment as to 

Counts II, VII, and VIII is denied. 

C.  Constitutional Claims 

  1.  Count XV – Confrontation of Witnesses and Due Process  
                Violations 

 
Count XV alleges that Crowley, Monaghan, and Ashe “violated Plaintiff’s 

constitutional civil rights to a fair hearing and confrontation of witnesses against 

him.”  It is unclear from the text of the amended complaint if this Count addresses 

federal or state constitutional claims.  It is also unclear from the amended 

complaint which provision of Delaware’s Constitution Izquierdo invokes.  Finally, 

although the Count incorporates all preceding allegations of the amended 

complaint, it does not identify specifically the acts by Crowley, Monaghan, and 

Ashe that allegedly violated Izquierdo’s constitutional rights. 

Article 1, Section 9 of the Constitution of 1897 provides “every man for an 

injury done him in his reputation, person, movable or immovable possessions, 

shall have remedy by the due course of law, and justice administered according to 

the very right of the cause and the law of the land.”  Further, Section 7 of that 

article establishes that “[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused hath a right . . . 

to meet the witnesses in their examination face to face” and that the accused shall 

not “be deprived of life, liberty or property, unless by the judgment of his peers or 

by the law of the land.”  The Delaware Supreme Court has held that “[t]he phrase 

‘due process of law’ in the Federal Constitution and the phrase ‘law of the land’ in 
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the Delaware Constitution have substantially the same meaning,”53 and should be 

interpreted in the same fashion. 

The United States Supreme Court, in Mathews v. Eldridge,54 set forth the 

three factors to be balanced in deciding what “due process” requires when a 

property interest (not one’s physical liberty) is at stake:55   

First, the private interest that will be affected by the official action; 
second, the risk of an erroneous deprivation of such interest through 
the procedures used, and the probable value, if any, of additional or 
substitute procedural safeguards; and finally, the Government’s 
interest, including the function involved and the fiscal and 
administrative burdens that the additional or substitute procedural 
requirement would entail.56 

 
This test is based, at its heart, on the notion that “‘[t]he fundamental requirement 

of due process is the opportunity to be heard “at a meaningful time and in a 

meaningful manner.”’”57 

                                              
53 In re Carolyn S.S., 498 A.2d 1095, 1098 (Del. 1984); see also Opinion of the 
Justices, 246 A.2d 90 (Del. 1969) (noting that Article I, § 7 of the Delaware 
Constitution “is held to have substantially the same meaning as the due process 
clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Federal Constitution”). 
54 424 U.S. 319 (1976). 
55 The parties, in the District Court, did not dispute that Izquierdo has a property 
interest in continued employment.  See Izquierdo, 68 F. Supp. 2d at 414.  The 
District Court noted, however, that the Supreme Court has “‘not had occasion to 
decide whether the protections of the Due Process Clause extend to discipline of 
tenured public employees short of termination.’”  Id. (quoting Gilbert v. Homar, 
520 U.S. 924, 929 (1997)).  That Court, nevertheless, proceeded on the assumption 
that a property right existed. 
56 424 U.S. at 335. 
57 Izquierdo, 68 F. Supp. 2d at 415 (quoting Mathews, 424 U.S. at 333 (quoting 
Armstrong v. Manzo, 380 U.S. 545, 552 (1965))). 
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As stated above, the amended complaint does not detail which acts taken by 

Crowley, Monaghan, and Ashe (who comprised the CHB) violated Izquierdo’s 

constitutional rights.  Izquierdo has also provided no briefing on the subject and as 

such, an application of the Mathews v. Eldridge calculus is virtually impossible.  

Assumedly, Izquierdo believes that the CHB’s proceeding allegedly in violation of 

the 30-Day Rule and its determination that there were no discovery violations 

caused him constitutional harm.  In the District Court, Izquierdo “conceded he had 

no due process right to compliance with the provisions of the 30-day rule.”58 

Izquierdo has not argued otherwise under the State Constitution.  To the extent 

Izquierdo may be alleging constitutional harm based on other decisions of the 

CHB, he has not briefed the subject and has not fairly put in evidence before the 

Court or satisfied the burden of production imposed on the nonmoving party at the 

summary judgment stage.  Further, it appears from the undisputed facts presented, 

notwithstanding the requirements of the CBA, that Izquierdo was provided the 

opportunity to be heard “at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.”  

Defendants’ motion for summary judgment as to this Count is granted.59 

                                              
58 Id. at 419.  The District Court held, in this context, that there was also no due 
process right to notice of the WPD’s interpretation of the 30-Day Rule.  Id. at 419 
n.33. 
59 The District Court stated that “all the federal question claims have been 
dismissed.”  Id. at 421.  Thus, to the extent Count XV may have been based on the 
Federal Constitution, it has already been addressed. 
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2.  Count XVI – Denial of Fair Hearing Because of Grant of Nolle  
                Prosequi 
 
  Count XVI alleges that Schlecker and her agents deprived Izquierdo of “a 

constitutional civil right of a fair hearing and effective cross-examination of 

[Givens] by prejudicing or influencing [Givens] either subjectively or objectively 

against Plaintiff.”  Schlecker is alleged to have done so by entering a nolle 

prosequi in Givens’s criminal proceedings. 

 As to Count XVI, while not explicitly resolving the claim alleged there, the 

District Court rejected the argument it presents.60  Although the District Court 

applied the Federal, not Delaware, Constitution, Izquierdo has pointed to no 

authority suggesting that the District Court’s reasoning would not hold true under 

the Delaware Constitution.  The District Court’s opinion, while perhaps dicta, is 

                                              
60 Specifically, the District Court wrote 

Izquierdo can point to no fact which would suggest the nolle pros. 
caused either WPD officials or the civilian complainant to doubt or 
dislike Izquierdo.  Rather, prior to the nolle pros., two of Izquierdo’s 
fellow officers had changed their statements to conflict with his.  
Further, the civilian complainant had accused Izquierdo of beating 
him.  The notion that without the nolle pros. the complainant would 
not have sided with OPS is patently absurd. 
 Second, the notion that a prosecutor cannot grant a nolle pros. 
when advised that one or more officers might perjure themselves 
without violating the due process rights of any officers under 
investigation for the same events is wholly without merit.  Applying 
the Mathews test, the interest of Izquierdo and others similarly 
situated in such a bar is minimal, especially given the existence of 
other procedural safeguards, including an opportunity to cross-
examine the complainant.  However, the interest of the government 
in preventing a perjury-laden prosecution is vast.  Therefore, 
Izquierdo cannot possibly make a showing that the nolle pros. in any 
way caused a constitutional violation. . . . 
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wholly consistent with the Delaware Constitution and is applicable here.  

Izquierdo has shown no reason why Schlecker’s use of nolle prosequi denied 

Izquierdo due process of law.  I see no reason why the due process clause should 

be read to limit a prosecutor’s traditionally broad discretion to decide whether or 

not to bring criminal charges.  

 Defendants’ motion for summary judgment as to Count XVI is granted.    

D.  Breach of Contract Claims Against the City 

 While the Individual Defendants are nonsignatories to the CBA, and thus 

cannot be held liable for any breach of it, the City is a signatory to the CBA and, 

of course, may be liable for a breach of contract claim based upon it.61  Although 

the amended complaint is not clear as to which individual counts are intended to 

apply to the City, Count XXVIII alleges “Defendants [Sills] and City are liable for 

the actions and policies of their employees, designees, agents and servants in that 

Defendants were aware either constructively or actually of the Defendants’ 

abuses.”62  While all claims against the Individual Defendants will be dismissed, 

                                                                                                                                       
Id. at 418 n.30. 
61 See DX-A360 (titling the CBA as between the City and the FOP); id. at 390 
(signature page of the CBA). 
62 Amended Compl. ¶ 120.  This paragraph of the amended complaint captures the 
notion that the City is responsible for the acts of its employees.  For example, by 
itself, the City cannot breach the CBA; it can only do so by the actions of its 
employees and agents.   Thus, to the extent the Individual Defendants acted in a 
way that is both within the scope of their employment (and hence their authority), 
and in breach of the CBA, the City may be held liable.  Cf. Harris v. Dependable 
Used Cars, Inc., 1997 WL 358302, at *1 (Del. Super. Mar. 20, 1997) (“Delaware 
follows the principle that in a breach of contract action, where the principal is 
disclosed, only the principal is liable for a breach thereof, not the agent.”) 
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because the City is the signatory to the CBA and because it is ultimately 

responsible for breaches of the CBA based on the actions of its employees, I now 

turn to the breach of contract claims, whether expressly applying to the City or 

impliedly through Count XXVIII,63 to determine whether summary judgment may 

be granted on any of these Counts. 

1.  Counts Alleging Lack of Disciplinary Jurisdiction 
 
The following Counts allege that, for certain reasons, either the CHB or AB 

was divested of the power to exercise jurisdiction over Izquierdo.  The Counts 

require the Court to make a determination of law—an interpretation of the CBA—

that affects the power of the CHB and AB to exercise control over the case.64 

    a.  30-Day Rule 

The 30-Day Rule forms the basis of Counts I-IV and Count XXIV.65  As 

recounted above, this rule provides that a hearing may not be scheduled “more 

                                                                                                                                       
(citations and internal quotations omitted).  In this context, the parties do not 
dispute that the Individual Defendants’ actions were within the scope of their 
employment. 
63 Izquierdo has not moved for summary judgment on Count XXVIII.  Defendants’ 
motion for summary judgment on this Count, to the extent claims addressed in this 
section survive summary judgment, will be denied. 
64 While the Counts discussed in subsections (c) and (d) of this section of this 
Memorandum Opinion would involve an interpretation of the CBA that goes to the 
jurisdiction of the CHB and AB, those Counts are dismissed at this stage because 
of the lack of any resultant harm, not because of the Court’s construction of the 
CBA. 
65 Count I is the only count related solely to the interpretation of the 30-Day Rule.  
Counts II-IV are based on conduct by the Individual Defendants in presenting 
arguments relating to the 30-Day Rule.  Count XXIV, entitled “Failure to Provide 
Rules of Procedure for Disciplinary Hearing Grievance; Unfair Notice,” is based 
on the premise that the Defendants “failed to provide Plaintiff with a copy or 
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than thirty (30) days following the conclusion of the investigation.”66  The term 

“conclusion of investigation” is not defined in the CBA, Directives, or LEOBOR.  

The Court is then left to interpret the meaning of “conclusion of investigation.” 

In interpreting a contract,67 the court “must first examine the entire 

agreement to determine whether the parties’ intent can be discerned from the 

express words used or, alternatively, whether its terms are ambiguous.”68  Initially, 

the Court looks to the terms of the contract.  If the terms are clear on their face, 

“the court must apply the meaning that would be ascribed to the language by a 

reasonable third party.”69  Where there is an ambiguity in the contract—that is, 

when a contract’s provisions are “reasonably susceptible to two or more 

meanings”70—the Court should consider extrinsic evidence to glean the 

                                                                                                                                       
notice of their unwritten governing procedures of the 30-Day Rule interpretation,” 
and therefore “Defendants breached their contractual duty . . . to fully inform 
Plaintiff of all procedural rules, thus hampering Plaintiff’s ability to conduct an 
adequate defense.”  Amended Compl. ¶¶ 107, 108. 
   Because Counts II-IV and XXIV are based on the conduct of WPD officers (and 
the WPD itself) in relation to interpreting the 30-Day Rule, which as discussed in 
this section, appears ambiguous, the Court will deny summary judgment on these 
Counts as well.  The practical consequences of this denial are minimal because the 
substantive basis of these Counts may be within Count I. 
66 Directive 8.7(E). 
67 The 30-Day Rule is found in Directive 8.7(E), not the CBA.  Nevertheless, 
Directive 8.7(E) is authorized pursuant to Section 11.1 of the CBA, and it is 
interpreted in the same manner as the CBA itself. 
68 Comrie v. Enterasys Networks, Inc., 837 A.2d 1, 13 (Del. Ch. 2003). 
69 True North Communications, Inc. v. Publicis, 711 A.2d 734, 738 (Del. Ch. 
2001), aff’d, 705 A.2d 244 (Del. 1997), quoted in Comrie, 837 A.2d at 13.  
70 Amtower v. Hercules, Inc., 1999 WL 167740, at *12 (Del. Super. Feb. 26, 
1999). 
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“reasonable shared expectations of the parties at the time of contracting.”71  This 

function may be performed in a summary judgment proceeding “where the 

moving party’s record is not prima facie rebutted so as to create issues of material 

fact.”72  If, however, questions of material fact exist, “the trial court must resolve 

those issues as the trier of fact.”73 

Here a material question of fact exists as to what “conclusion of 

investigation” means that cannot be resolved at this stage of litigation.  Various 

events have been suggested by the parties as meeting this standard—the last 

investigative activity; when the investigative report is complete; when the 

commander of OPS signs off on the report; when the lead investigator prepares an 

“information packet;” and when the officer is served with charge papers—all of 

which are reasonable interpretations of “conclusion of investigation.”  As the 

Supreme Court stated in Continental Oil Corporation v. Pauley Petroleum, Inc., 

“the function of the judge in passing on a motion for summary judgment is not to 

weigh evidence and to accept that which seems to him to have the greater weight.  

His function is rather to determine whether or not there is any evidence supporting 

a favorable conclusion to the nonmoving party.”74  Since both sides have 

submitted evidence to support their differing interpretations of Directive 8.7(E), 

                                              
71 Comrie, 837 A.2d at 13. 
72 Eagle Indus., Inc. v. DeVilbiss Health Care, Inc., 702 A.2d 1228, 1232-33 (Del. 
1997). 
73 Id. at 1233. 
74 251 A.2d 824, 826 (Del. 1969) (emphasis added). 
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both Izquierdo’s and Defendants’ motions for summary judgment, with respect to 

Counts I, III, IV, XXIV, and II (to the extent that Count is based on either breach 

of contract or in tort and seeks equitable relief),75 and with respect to the City only, 

are denied. 

b.  Appeal Board’s Jurisdictional Limits For Review  
 

Count V is based on the notion that the CBA was breached because 

“Defendants Dees and [Pratcher] . . . [went] beyond the Appeal Board’s 

jurisdictional limits for review, i.e. [Directive] 8.8(C)(1) and (2), i.e. fairness and 

whether the Hearing Board’s findings were supported by the evidence.”  Directive 

8.8(C) provides, in pertinent part, 

C.  The Captain of the Internal Affairs Division and/or the 
Chief of Police, within five (5) days of receipt of the Complaint 
Hearing Board’s decision and recommendation, may convene an 
Appeal Board to consider the following: 

 
 1.  Whether the Complaint Hearing Board was not 

carried out in a manner fair to both employee and to the Internal 
Affairs Division prosecuting the case; or 

 
 2.  Whether the decision of the Complaint Hearing 

Board was not supported by the evidence; . . .76 
 

                                              
75 Count II—the only count based in tort which survives summary judgment—
only survives to the extent that it seeks equitable relief.  As discussed in note 41, 
supra, any equitable relief available would take the form of an order directed at 
the City, or, by reason of their then-positions with the City, Sills and Pratcher.  
Because Sills and Pratcher are not named in Count II, the substitution provision of 
Court of Chancery Rule 25(d) is not implicated and the Defendants’ motion for 
summary judgment is granted as to the Individual Defendants and Izquierdo’s 
motion for summary judgment is denied. 
76 DX-A411, A412. 
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The crux of this Count is that the AB, in deciding the 30-Day Rule had not been 

violated (and thus that the decision of the CHB at the first CHB hearing was not 

supported by the evidence), went beyond the record introduced to the CHB.77  

Directive 8.8(D) lists the procedures for the AB.  It provides: 

 The action . . . is that of an administrative review of the case.  
The appeal shall be on the record and shall not constitute a full 
hearing of the facts of the case, addressing only the specifics of the 
appeal.  The Administrative Review can, but shall not [be] required 
to perform the following: 
 
 1.  Review of those portions of the taped transcript designated 
by the original [CHB], in regard to the specifics of the appeal. 
 
 2.  Interviewing witnesses, in regard to the specifics of the 
appeal. 
 
 3.  Interviewing the accused (with legal counsel if the accused 
so desires). 
 
 4.  Reviewing all pertinent information or evidence 
previously introduced. 
 
 5.  Reviewing new evidence not available at the [CHB], but 
sought by the accused to be entered on his behalf, or evidence 
excluded by the original [CHB]. . . .78 

  
 Izquierdo states that “the [first AB] breached its restriction of powers . . . in 

evaluating the [appeal] by accepting evidence not in the CHB findings, nor 

                                              
77 The AB decided only that “the findings of the [CHB] were not supported by the 
evidence,” not that the CHB was not carried out in a fair manner.  Further, it is 
unclear whether the CBA would allow the WPD to appeal on anything other than 
that “the decision of the [CHB] is not supported by the evidence and record.”  See 
CBA § 11.9 (providing four criteria for appeal, with only one seeming to allow the 
WPD to initiate the process). 
78 DX-A412. 
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introduced . . . on the record below.”79  Izquierdo points to consideration by the 

AB of the following as beyond the scope of what the AB is entitled to review: 

• A letter drafted to the accused officers notifying them of a hearing 
date with their Packages attached was sent on April 15; 
 

• The officers received the Packages on April 17, 18, and 23; 

• Thirty days from April 12 was May 12; and  

• The text of Court of Chancery Rule 6, Supreme Court Rule 11, 
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 6, Superior Court Civil 
Rule 6.80 

 
The AB denied the admission of the court rules as relevant evidence.81  Observing 

that thirty days span April 12 and May 12 is certainly something that is within the 

power of the AB.  A review of the first CHB’s report shows it considered that 

letters were sent to the accused officers on April 15.82  As discussed above, 

April 13, 1996 was thirty days before the hearing.83  Thus, since consideration of 

the April 15 sent date is proper, any consideration of the fact that the officers 

                                              
79 Pl.’s Opening Br. in Supp. of Mot. for Partial Summ. J., at 25-26.  
80 Id.  Although not mentioned in Izquierdo’s opening brief, the AB did allow, 
over his objection, the introduction of pages 1 and 16 of the CBA, which were the 
cover page and Article 11.1 (work rules and regulations of the CBA).  Review of 
the cover page is irrelevant to the 30-Day Rule.  The issue regarding Article 11 
seems to be that the CHB utilized the 30-Day Rule found in the LEOBOR, but the 
AB utilized the 30-Day Rule found in Directive 8.7(E).  As discussed above, the 
LEOBOR’s 30-Day Rule is substantially similar to that found in the Directive.  
And, importantly, the AB unanimously held “that even though the contract states 
that the directives take precedence over Title 11, Section 9203, 9204, 9205, and 
9207, there is no difference in the 30-day requirement addressed in [the CHB’s 30-
Day Rule findings].)”  DX-A224. 
81 DX-A224. 
82 Id. at A206. 
83 See supra note 26 and accompanying text. 
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received the Packages on April 17, 18, and 23 is error of no consequence, if it is 

error at all.84  For this reason, Defendants’ motion for summary judgment as to 

Count V is granted and Izquierdo’s motion for summary judgment with regard to 

that Count is denied.85 

c.  Hearing Board Exceeds Jurisdiction 

In Count XXVI, Izquierdo alleges that the CHB exceeded its jurisdiction 

and breached its contractual duty to him under the CBA by terminating him 

immediately following the conclusion of the penalty phase of the second hearing, 

instead of by providing a recommendation to Pratcher (Chief of the WPD).  

Regardless of the merits of the argument,86 any potential wrong was remedied by 

the AB’s subsequent decision, which reinstated Izquierdo effective September 3, 

1996, and credited him for suspension time served based on the CHB’s ruling.  

Izquierdo has not suggested that the imposition of penalty by the AB was 

wrongful in substance.  For this reason, Defendants’ motion for summary 

judgment on Count XXVI is granted. 

                                              
84 Directive 8.8(D) may be read to allow review of all pertinent information or of 
all pertinent information previously introduced.  This is ambiguous.  Nevertheless, 
the issue is resolved without need to look to that term. 
85 Izquierdo also tried to question ex post the AB’s reasoning in coming to its 
decision.  At best, he has shown that one member of the AB considered policy in 
making a decision.  The Court has found the AB did not review evidence beyond 
its authority.  The Court will not undertake review of the AB’s reasoning process. 
86 This argument was rejected by the District Court.  See Izquierdo, 68 F. Supp. 2d 
at 411. 
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d.  Timeliness of Second AB Hearing 

Again, in Count XXVII, Izquierdo raises concerns regarding an action that, 

even if a wrong, has already been remedied.  The AB’s second hearing was 

convened 67 days after it was requested.  Izquierdo claims that during this time he 

was “without pay or benefits and with the stigma imposed upon his character” and 

“was unable to find substitute employment.”87  The result of the second AB 

hearing, for the reasons discussed above, remedied any potential loss coming out 

of this alleged wrong.  Accordingly, Defendants’ motion for summary judgment 

on Count XXVII is granted. 

2. Counts Addressing CHB and AB Determinations Regarding Permissible 
Discovery 

 
While the breach of contract claims addressed above go to the continuing 

power of both the CHB and AB to exercise jurisdiction over Izquierdo, Counts IX 

and XI seek court review of determinations made by those bodies.88  

                                              
87 Amended Compl. ¶ 118. 
88 Counts XI and XII are driven by the same underlying alleged discovery 
violations; the only difference between the Counts is that Count XI is based on 
Directive 8.7(L) and Count XII is based on LEOBOR Sections 9200(c)(7) and 
(10).  All of these provisions go to recordkeeping and discovery.  Thus, to the 
extent Count XII seeks equitable relief, it is discussed here and is dismissed for the 
same reasons as Count XI. 
    Counts IX and X both are dependent upon the alleged failure by Crowley, 
Monaghan and Ashe to impose sanctions for the alleged discovery violations 
underlying Counts XI and XII.  Thus, once Counts XI and XII are dismissed, the 
substantive bases for Counts IX and X are absent.  Count IX, then, to the extent it 
seeks equitable relief, is dismissed in this section of the Memorandum Opinion. 
    Moreover, to the extent that Count XIV is based on breach of contract, or in tort 
and seeking equitable relief, it is addressed here.  That Count is based on one of 
the alleged discovery violations referenced in Count XI and XII. 
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Specifically, Izquierdo alleges that Staats did not record or keep records of 

all portions of his interviews with the civilian complainants under LEOBOR 

Section 9200(c)(7), which in turn affected his discovery rights under 

Directive 8.7(L) and LEOBOR Section 9200(c)(10).  Moreover, Izquierdo alleges 

the complainants were “coached” in recalling the facts of the altercation while no 

tape recorder was in use.   This was a basis for the motion to dismiss filed at the 

first CHB hearing. 

In addition, Izquierdo’s current claims seem to rest on other alleged 

disclosure violations listed in a motion to dismiss considered during the second 

CHB hearing,89 including a failure to take written notes of a February 22, 1996 

interview of the manager of the club where the altercation took place and a failure 

to provide the addresses or phone numbers of certain witnesses.  Izquierdo argued 

this is exculpatory information because all witnesses could have provided 

information as to Givens’s initial contact with the WPD officers involved in the 

altercation, Givens’s behavior, and Givens’s alleged intoxicated state on the night 

at issue. Izquierdo’s motion further argued that certain hospital records were 

provided to him too late to allow him adequate review before the second CHB 

hearing was convened.  Finally, Izquierdo argued that OPS failed to obtain a 

recorded copy of radio transmissions, which, he wrote, would have provided him 

with witnesses and other relevant officer identifications. 

                                              
89 This motion to dismiss was submitted at DX-A286. 
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The CHB (at both its hearings) and the AB (at its second hearing) 

addressed these contentions.  All bodies were in agreement that there was no 

violation of either the LEOBOR or the CBA.   

The LEOBOR does not expressly provide for any form of judicial review; it 

merely sets forth certain minimum procedures, which may be altered by contract.  

The CBA, which altered the LEOBOR in some respects, also does not have any 

procedure for judicial review.  As shown above, this Court may act to ensure that 

the contemplated review bodies were not divested of jurisdiction to hear the case.  

Without reaching whether or not this Court may review situations not questioning 

the jurisdictional power of a board to make decisions over a case, the Court 

concludes that Izquierdo has not demonstrated any cognizable harm arising out of 

the alleged discovery violations.  Perhaps more importantly, he has not shown that 

his ability to defend himself was compromised in any way.90   

As to the manager of the nightclub, Izquierdo interviewed him and moved 

to enter into evidence a typed transcript of that interview; this transcript was 

admitted over the objections of the prosecutor.  As to the civilian complainants, 

both Givens and his brother were available for cross-examination (and were cross-

examined for three hours).  Moreover, while Count XIV alleges “coaching” of the 

                                              
90 The Superior Court has the power to issue a writ of mandamus if there is a 
“clear right to performance of the duty.”  Knox, 1995 WL 339096, at *1 (quotation 
and internal citation omitted).  In this case, Izquierdo does not seek performance 
of a duty, but, instead, seeks equitable and monetary relief based on the principles 
of tort and breach of contract.  Assuming a private right of action exists under the 
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civilian complainants, Izquierdo has pointed to no evidence to support such an 

allegation (e.g., depositions, interrogatory answers or affidavits), much less any 

evidence suggesting that Staats’s dialogue with the complainants before turning on 

a tape recorder was an “interview,” and not simply a conversation.  Further, the 

fact that the civilian complainants were given copies of their statements for 

reference at the second CHB hearing is of no consequence. 

As to the hospital records,91 it was Izquierdo who took Givens to the 

hospital and transported the records back to the WPD.  He was aware of what 

happened at the hospital, and, in any event, he received the records two days 

before the second CHB hearing convened.  Moreover, these records only state 

Givens refused medical treatment; they do not discuss how he was injured or the 

extent of his injuries, other than that he had an abrasion over his left eye.92 

Finally, Izquierdo has not presented any basis for concluding that Staats’s 

discussion with certain hatcheck employees of the nightclub, or that the radio 

transmissions were not provided, caused him cognizable harm.  

For these reasons, Defendants’ motion for summary judgment on Counts 

IX, XI, and, to the extent based on breach of contract, Count XIV  (and Counts X, 

                                                                                                                                       
LEOBOR, see supra note 42 (discussing whether or not such an action exists), this 
Court would only grant relief to the extent harm could be drawn. 
91 DX-A37. 
92 A fact that may have been inconsistent with Izquierdo’s report that he only 
struck Givens once on the forearm. 
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XII, and XIV to the extent they are based in tort and seek equitable relief) is 

granted.   

3.  Miscellaneous Counts 

a.  Count VI 

Count VI states that “Defendant Dees and [Pratcher] knowingly, willfully 

and wantonly and with reckless disregard did breach that contract as stated in 

Counts IV and V above.”  This Count simply repeats Counts IV and V and, to the 

extent necessary, has been addressed above.  Defendants’ motion for summary 

judgment as to this Count is granted and Izquierdo’s motion for summary 

judgment as to this Count is denied. 

b.  Good Faith and Fair Dealing 

Count XXV alleges a violation of the covenant of good faith and fair 

dealing.  Specifically, it alleges that certain defendants “either jointly or separately 

breached their contractual duties of good faith and fair dealing, either expressly or 

impliedly, by their conduct as alleged in those counts already identified.”93  It is 

well established that a party “cannot assert a claim for breach of [an] implied 

covenant [of good faith and fair dealing] that is based on exactly the same acts 

which are said to be in breach of express covenants.”94  This Count, by merely 

referencing conduct discussed in earlier counts and said to be in breach of express 

                                              
93 Emphasis added. 
94 USX Corp. v. Prime Leasing, Inc., 988 F.2d 433, 439 (3d Cir. 1993), quoted in 
Metro Communication Corp. BVI v. Advanced Mobilecomm Techs., Inc., 2004 WL 
1043728 (Del. Ch. May 3, 2004).  
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provisions of the CBA, without more, cannot survive.  Defendants’ motion to 

dismiss Count XXV is granted.  

c.  Impartial Tribunal (Contractual Duty of Impartiality) 

Counts XVII-XXI all are based on the allegation that Pratcher should have 

recused himself from the AB because he had a bias against Izquierdo and therefore 

breached a contractual duty to provide an impartial appeal board.  Counts XVII 

and XVIII contradict each other in that Count XVII is based on an allegation that 

Pratcher appealed the CHB’s first hearing decision and Count XVIII is based on 

the allegation that Pratcher approved Howell’s appeal of that decision.  Counts XX 

and XXI are rooted in Pratcher’s keeping informed of the OPS investigation.  

Count XIX asserts that Pratcher “was predisposed to favor OPS’ position on 

appeal.” 

The District Court, in addressing immunity from liability under 42 U.S.C. § 

1983, made determinations regarding the same claims in a different context.95  I 

                                              
95 Specifically, the District Court held that “the uncontradicted evidence is that 
Pratcher did not make the decision to appeal the decision of the First CHB and that 
his signature on the first appeal was routine.  Izquierdo has not, and cannot, 
adduce any further facts in support of his claim that Pratcher was biased.”  
Izquierdo, 68 F. Supp. 2d at 415.  In addressing Pratcher’s knowledge of the 
progression of the case, the District Court wrote “Izquierdo has not adduced any 
facts to show Pratcher was not impartial.  At best, he has shown that Pratcher had 
knowledge of the case before he heard it and routinely signed-off on an appeal.”  
Id. at 416. 
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find those determinations to be binding here as a matter of estoppel.96  Defendants’ 

motion for summary judgment with regard to Counts XVII-XXI is granted.  

As to Counts XXII and XXIII, which are based in the idea that both 

Rhondunda and Schlecker were predisposed to favor OPS’ position, Izquierdo has 

proffered no evidence, other than his conclusory allegations, to support this notion.  

As such, he has not met his burden of production as a nonmoving party who would 

have the burden of proof at trial and Defendants’ motion for summary judgment as 

to these two Counts is granted as a matter of law. 

IV.  CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons stated above, Izquierdo’s motion for partial summary 

judgment is denied in its entirety.  Defendants’ motion for summary judgment 

with regard to the Individual Defendants is granted in its entirety.  The Individual 

Defendants, therefore, are dismissed from this action.  Defendants’ motion for 

summary judgment with regard to the City is granted as to Counts V-XXIII, XXV-

                                              
96 Even if the District Court had not previously ruled, Izquierdo has not put forth 
evidence of Pratcher’s bias that would serve to preclude the grant of summary 
judgment for Defendants.  See Tafeen v. Homestore, 2004 WL 1043721, at *1 
(Del. Ch. April 27, 2004) (“‘[I]t is well settled that where the opponent of 
summary judgment has the burden of proof at trial, he must show specific facts 
demonstrating a plausible ground for his claim, and cannot rely merely upon 
allegations in the pleadings or conclusory assertions in the affidavits’ in order to 
avoid summary judgment being granted in favor of the proponent of the motion.”) 
(quoting In re Tri-Star Pictures, Inc. Litig., 1992 WL 37304, at *4 (Del. Ch. 
Feb. 21, 1992), aff’d in part, rev’d in part, 364 A.2d 319 (Del. 1993)). 
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XXVII, and II, to the extent it is based in tort and seeks damages, but, otherwise, it 

is denied.   

 An order will be entered in accordance with this Memorandum Opinion. 


